CREDORAX BANK LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2019

Company Registration Number: C46342

CREDORAX BANK LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements 31 December 2019

Pages
Directors report

1-5
6 - 15

Statement of financial position

16

Statement of comprehensive income

17

Statement of changes in equity

18

Statement of cash flows

19

Notes to the financial statements

20 - 65

Additional regulatory disclosures

66 - 89
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The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of Credorax Bank Limited
for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Principal activity
The
principal activity is the provision of integrated acquiring and payment processing services to
merchants within the EU and two other EEC States, and is also a principal level member with Visa (Europe),
MasterCard and Union Pay. During the financial year under review, the Bank continued operating as a credit
institution under the Banking Act, Cap 371 of the Law of Malta, in accordance with the credit institution
license granted by the Malta Financial Services Authority.
Review of the business
The Bank exce
89 million (2018

4,211 million (2018 4,130 million) and generated revenues
89 million). The Bank reported a profit after tax of 3.2 million for the year under
Total net assets stood at 34 million (2018 34 million). The Bank
position is satisfactory and the directors expect that the current position will continue to improve in the future.
During 2019, the Bank has agreed to form part of a Fiscal Unit for Maltese income tax purposes in terms of
the Consolidated Group (Income Tax) Rules (LN 110 of 2019),. Since the tax consolidation regime allows
for a full integration of the tax position of its member entities, the Bank has applied an equivalent effective
tax rate of 5% that applies to the parent company, deemed the principal taxpayer of the fiscal unit, for the
computation of current and deferred tax. As a result of this, the Bank is showing a significantly lower tax
expense in 2019
0.3 million (2
.
During the last month of 2019, the Bank also kicked off its deposit-taking activities from depositors other
than its acquiring merchant base, through a deposit-raising marketplace in Germany, through which it
million in additional customer deposits by year-end.
Key performance indicators
The Board of Directors tracks the Bank's progress in implementing its strategy with a range of financial
by comparison with the Bank's
budgets and historical performance. The financial KPIs tracked by the Board of the Bank are presented in
the following table.

The Board of Directors does not monitor any specific non-financial KPIs.
Principle risks
Credorax Bank Limited faces a range of business, financial, operational and reputational risks. The directors
believe that the Bank's most important risks are: (i) credit risk to the extent that the card schemes of which
it is a member may chargeback credit card purchases; (ii) settlement risk whereby the Bank fails to settle
with merchants due to lack of availability of funds as a result of settlement failure by the correspondent bank
where merchant funds are held; and (iii) reputational risk.
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report (continued)
Accordingly, the Bank adopts a robust risk management approach to understand what its risks are, how
much risk is acceptable and to manage its risks. Such approach aims to create value for shareholders while
meeting regulatory requirements and ensuring that stakeholders are protected without compromising
integrity, ethical behaviour and transparency.

operate together as an integrated whole including: (1) a robust risk identification and risk assessment
embedding
objectives within policy documents and procedures; and (4) quantifying the residual risk to which the Bank
is exposed.

practices is deemed vital by the Directors to the overall effectiveness of this framework. It requires the
Committees and Senior Management to consider actively the ways in which they act

In this context, the Bank has adopted a sound corporate governance framework, which consists of three
key functions: the Board, the entity-wide risk management function, and the independent assessment of
risk governance that enables the Bank to create and sustain stakeholder value.
ssessment of its assets, liabilities, financial
position and financial performance
financial risk management objectives and policies, and its exposure to credit risk, market risk, and liquidity
risk.
Dividends and reserves
other interim dividend of
shareholder,
Credorax Inc, as approved at an extraordinary general meeting held on 27 February 2019 and 28 June
2019 respectively.
The directors propose a final
balance of retained earnings amounting to 10,932,928 (2018
financial year.

), subject to MFSA approval, and the
10,699,810) be carried forward to the next

COVID-19 trading update
Since 31 December 2019, the outbreak of COVID-19 has severely impacted many local economies around
the world, with measures taken to contain the spread of the virus, including travel bans, quarantines, social
distancing, and closure of non-essential businesses for indefinite periods of time, triggering significant
disruptions to businesses worldwide and leading to a global economic slowdown.
The likely future impact on the Bank of the COVID-19 outbreak has been assessed as part of its adoption
of the going concern basis, and as of the date that these financial statements were authorised for issue, the
Bank has not observed any material impact on its business due to COVID-19, both operationally and also
financially.
Operationally, the Bank managed the impact of COVID-19 with minimal disruption on every level, which
success is directly attributable to its robust technological infrastructure based on cloud technology. The
Bank has smoothly switched to teleworking mobilizing over 100 employees for their safety, and is staying
in close contact with its merchant customers and service providers in order to mitigate any adverse financial
or operational impact, and continues to monitor the situation as it unfolds.
2
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(continued)
From a trading point of view, the Bank has reported exceptional processing performance in first quarter
2020 trading, with overall traffic being 9% higher when compared to the last quarter of 2019, and March
2020 processing volumes growing by 26% when compared to the prior month. This positive impact is
-commerce
transactions, which are set to be less affected by the effects of the COVID-19 breakout, and also because
-diversified portfolio of merchants operating in various
industries and geographies. In fact, despite the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on some of the
merchants, particularly those operating in the travel vertical which is clearly presenting some uncertainties
on the Bank in meeting its projected processing volumes, the Bank is seeing good levels of processing
volumes in other verticals in its portfolio which, up until now, are more than compensating for the decline in
processing suffered by the travel industry. The Bank has also noted that this trend of increased processing
volume is continuing to persist even during the month of April 2020 up to the date that these financial
statements were authorised for issue.
During the first quarter of 2020, the Bank has
preference shares in Visa Inc, as these shares have declined in value as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak
-border business. Despite this fair
Million was recorded in March 2020.
The Bank has determined that the events experienced subsequent to the financial reporting date are nonadjusting subsequent events. Accordingly, the financial position and performance as of and for the year
ended 31 December 2019 have not been adjusted to reflect their impact.
.
The extent of the impact of COVIDresults for future periods will depend on certain developments, including the duration and spread of the
outbreak, the
, all of which are uncertain
and cannot be reliably estimated. Therefore, as at 29 April 2020, the date that these financial statements
were authorised for issue, it is difficult to accurately predict the overall outcome and impact of the COVIDfuture periods.
Nonetheless, the Bank has stress tested its financial projections and capital adequacy, and simulated
multiple forward looking adverse scenarios that the Bank might potentially experience due to COVID-19
pandemic crisis, including a decrease in processing volumes, the default of merchants operating in severely
hit industries, a decrease in market value of debt securities and other investments, and a deterioration in
credit quality of the projected loan portfolio. Although it is currently considered unlikely that these adverse
scenarios will occur simultaneously, the combined effect of these stress tests shows that the Bank will
continue satisfying its minimum total capital adequacy and liquidity ratios in 2020 and beyond.
Therefore, even though the current environment is unprecedented and it is too early to form a clear view on
continuity plans, a well-diversified portfolio of merchants providing sufficient cushioning and compensating
for severely hit sectors, and the immaterial financial impact to date, the Bank is confident in its foreseeable
future and its ability to weather the current crisis and to continue to provide best service to its merchants,
whilst also benefiting from future opportunities that this pandemic will leave in the future. Accordingly, the
continue as a going concern. As such, the Bank continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
its Financial Statements.
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(continued)
Directors
The directors of the Bank who held office during the year were:
Binyamin Nachman
Frederick Ellul
Nathan Shaked
Igal Rotem
David Blumberg
Tonio Fenech
Anthony Depasquale
Aviram Shemer
Joshua Floum resigned on 23 April 2020

are otherwise removed from office.
Ultimate shareholders holding five per cent or more of the share capital of the Bank are as follows:

The directors are required by the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 and the Maltese Companies Act, 1995 to
prepare financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Bank as at the end of
each reporting period and of the profit or loss for that period.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for:
ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and ensuring that the
financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Bank will continue in business as a going concern.
The directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and that comply with the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 and the
Maltese Companies Act, 1995. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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(continued)
The financial statements of Credorax Bank Limited for the year ended 31 December 2019 are included in
the Annual Report 2019, which is published in hard-copy printed form and will be made available on the
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Annual Report on
the website in view of their responsibility for the controls over, and the security of, the website. Access to
legislation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from requirements
or practice in Malta.
Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their reappointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the board

Igal Rotem
Director

Aviram Shemer
Director

80, Palazzo Homedes
Strait Street
Valletta
VLT 1436
29 April 2020
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To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Our opinion
In our opinion:
flows for the
adopted by the EU; and
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Banking Act (Cap. 371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).
Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee.
What we have audited
16 to 65, comprise:
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;
the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited
Independence
We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
requirements of the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in
terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Malta. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these Codes.
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to the
Bank are in accordance with the applicable law and regulations in Malta and that we have not provided
non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 18A of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281).
The non-audit services that we have provided to the Bank, in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019, are disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements.

Our audit approach
Overview

Materiality

Audit
scope

Fee and commission income and settlement processing obligations.
Key audit
matters

Accounting for the adoption of Maltese tax consolidation rules;

- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement
due to fraud.
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion
on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Bank, the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Bank operates.
Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality,
including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
Overall materiality

k

How we determined it

1% of total acquiring revenues

Rationale
materiality
applied

We chose total acquiring revenues as the benchmark because, in
our view, it is a key financial statement metric used in assessing
the performance of the Bank and is not as volatile as other profit
and loss measures. We chose 1% based on our professional
judgement, noting that it is also within the range of revenue
related thresholds that we consider acceptable.

for
the
benchmark

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our
for qualitative reasons.

- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Fee and commission income and settlement
processing obligations
Fee and commission income is recognised
based on the nature, number and value of
transactions processed and the rates agreed
with merchants, while settlement processing
obligations are recognised on the basis of
payment volumes processed, the income
attributable to the Bank as well as the
settlement cycle (time taken to receive cash
from card schemes, and remit it to merchants)
and collateral reserves agreed by the Bank with
merchants.
Payment transaction details, upon which fee
and commission income and settlement
processing obligations are determined, are
acquiring platforms. This calculation is complex
given the extent of automation and the high
volume of business.
There is a risk that the systems may not be
configured correctly from the outset such that
revenues and settlement amounts are
calculated incorrectly, that data does not
correctly flow through the operational IT
systems, and that unauthorised changes may be
made to any of these systems, which may result
in the misstatement of revenue and settlement
balances.

We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the controls over the calculation of fee
and commission income and settlement processing
obligations. This included testing general IT controls
relating to access to programs and data, program
changes, program development, and computer
operations in order to address the risk of unauthorised
changes being made to the operation of IT application
controls.
We also tested the operating effectiveness of the
automated calculation of fees and commissions
charged to merchants as well as the effectiveness of the
controls over the reconciliation of gateway
submissions, card scheme incoming and outgoing files
and merchant
platform. We have also tested the controls that are in
place to verify that merchant payments made through
different payment channels are accurate.
In addition, we performed detailed testing in relation
to fee and commission income on a sample basis by
back to source data. This included agreeing merchant
related standing data (such as rates and settlement
cycle details) to merchant contracts (and contracts
addendums) to ensure that the appropriate inputs are
assigned to each merchant in the system based on
signed contractual terms.

- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

There is also the risk that transaction fee and
settlement details are not recorded accurately,
i.e. as stipulated within the merchant
agreements.

We tested the reconciliation between the balances held
with other banks attributable to merchants and
balances that are expected to be recovered from card
schemes to the settlement processing obligations
including those that are not recognised in the
We focused on fee and commission income and Statement of Financial Position.
settlement processing obligations due to the
complexities involved in the respective We agreed funds that are expected to be recovered
calculations.
from card schemes to receipts after year-end, loans and
advances to banks attributable to merchants to thirdRelevant references in the Annual Report and party confirmations and third-party reports. We also
Financial Statements:
tested, on a sample basis, merchants' settlement
Note on fee and commission income: Note 24; processing obligation balances to supporting
documentation.
and
Note on settlement processing obligations:
Note 19.

We have also reviewed merchant complaints relating
to merchant balances and payments.
The combination o
and the detailed testing that we carried out gave us
sufficient evidence to enable us to conclude that the

Accounting for the adoption of Maltese tax
consolidation rules
In 2019 the Bank has agreed to form part of a
Fiscal Unit for Maltese income tax purposes in
terms of the Consolidated Group (Income Tax)
Rules (LN 110 of 2019) with Credorax Inc., the
parent company and another wholly owned
Malta resident subsidiary of Credorax Inc.
As a result of the adoption of these rules, the
Bank, together with the other members in the
Fiscal Unit will be treated for tax purposes as a
single entity. Therefore, tax is chargeable on
the consolidated chargeable income of the

processing obligations balance are reasonable and
appropriate.

Our audit work
procedures:

included

the

following audit

1. We involved tax and accounting specialists to
understand and test the implications of the
Consolidated Group (Income Tax) Rules and to
review the tax sharing agreement;
2.
against the requirements in IFRS in respect of
recognition of taxes. In particular we ensured that:
a. the recognition of current and deferred
tax assets and liabilities at the level of the
Bank are

- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Fiscal Unit and not on the chargeable income of
each member entity within the Fiscal Unit.

appropriate and reflect the substance of the tax
sharing agreement; and

The Bank also entered into a tax sharing
agreement with the other Fiscal Unit entities
provides which establishes that

b. current and deferred tax receivable and
payable are disclosed as being receivable from
and/or payable to the appropriate counterparty;

(i) taxes determined for the Fiscal Unit are
allocated to members of the Fiscal Unit by
income/losses; and (ii) while the Bank commits
to compensate the parent for its share of tax
payable, the parent assumes an obligation to
remit taxes to the Maltese Inland Revenue
hare
of the Fiscal Unit's tax burden with the parent.
On this basis of the above, with effect from
2019, the Bank applied an effective tax rate of
5% for the computation of current and deferred
tax instead of the standard corporate income
tax rate of 35%.
The adoption by the Bank of the Tax
Consolidation Rules has a significant impact on
the accounting treatment of current and
deferred tax assets and liabilities as well as on
statement
of
comprehensive
income.
Therefore, we determined this to be a key audit
matter.
Relevant references in the Annual Report and
Financial Statements:
Accounting policy: Note 1.13;
Deferred taxation: Note 20

3.
was appropriate and whether the tax charge in the
statement of comprehensive income reasonably
the Fiscal Unit; and
4. We considered the relevant disclosures in the
financial statements.

accounting treatment in respect of income taxes to be
appropriate.

- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Report, the Additional Regulatory Disclosures and the 5 Year summary (but does not include the
financial
report.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.
With respect to the d
disclosures required by Article 177 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).
Based on the work we have performed, in our opinion:
port for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Bank and its environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with governance for the financial
statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Banking Act
(Cap.371) and the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386), and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material mis
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements. As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to dra
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee
potential implications that COVID-19 will hav
disruption to its business and the overall economy.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
ort unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371)
In our opinion:
we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief
were necessary for the purpose of our audit;
proper books of account have been kept by the Bank, so far as appears from our examination of those
books;
ent with the books of account; and
to the best of our knowledge and according to the explanations given to us, the financial statements give
the information required by any law in force in the manner so required.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
We also have responsibility under the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) to report to you if, in our
opinion:
returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us.
We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibility.

- continued
To the Shareholders of Credorax Bank Limited

Appointment
We were first appointed as auditors of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2009 on 12 February 2010.
Our appointment has been renewed annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of
uninterrupted engagement appointment of 11 years. The Bank became licensed as credit institution in terms
of the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371) on 9 June 2015.
PricewaterhouseCoopers
78, Mill Street
Qormi
Malta

Lucienne Pace Ross
Partner
29 April 2020
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Statement of financial position

The notes on pages 20 to 65 are an integral part of these financial statements. The financial statements on
pages 16 to 65 were authorised for issue by the board on 29 April 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

Igal Rotem
Director

Aviram Shemer
Director
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Statement of comprehensive income

The notes on pages 20 to 65 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity

The notes on pages 20 to 65 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 December
2019
2018
Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received
Interest paid
Fees and commission received
Fees and commission paid
Payments to employees and suppliers

607,934
(57,402)
99,262,149
(64,888,397)
(9,261,928)

194,028
98,181,049
(68,096,370)
(9,526,168)

25,662,356

20,752,539

(930,741)
(7,198,776)
(2,501,436)

694,884
6,031,379
22,539,833
(2,686,708)

(30,254,508)
2,290,017
937,706

(21,600,434)
10,738,647
1,159,084

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Amounts owed to customers
Settlement processing obligations
Other liabilities

5,412,533
(5,799,419)
(638,834)

(97,605)
(2,245,115)
441,392

Cash (used in) / generated from operations

(13,021,102)

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in
operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Loans and advances to customers
Funds advanced under collateral arrangements
Funds receivable from card schemes
Funds receivable from merchants
Other assets:
Advances to group undertakings
Repayments from group undertakings
Other advances

Tax paid

(2,778,734)

Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends received
Purchase of debt instruments
Proceeds from maturity of debt instruments
Investment in fixed term placement
Proceeds from maturity of fixed term placement
Purchase of equipment
Proceeds from disposal of equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Cash consideration received from Visa Inc.

(15,799,836)

10
10
12

Net cash used in investing activities

35,727,896
(788)
35,727,108

52,970
7,721,657
(53,624)
3,960
(86,232)
1,435,624

32,020
(126,771)
86,670
(7,450,259)
(78,036)
(962,163)
-

9,074,355

(8,498,539)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of lease liability

(245,757)

-

Net cash from financing activities

(245,757)

-

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

(6,971,238)

27,228,569

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

79,156,410

51,927,841

72,185,172

79,156,410

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

32

The notes on pages 20 to 65 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.
1.1 Basis of preparation
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and with the requirements
of the Banking Act, 1994 and the Maltese Companies Act, 1995. These financial statements are
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair valuation of investments at fair
value through profit or loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the
use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgment in the
Critical accounting estimates, and
judgments in applying accounting policies).
1.1.1 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2019
In 2019, the Bank adopted amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are mandatory
1 January 2019. In particular, the Bank has initially
as issued by the IASB in January 2016, on 1 January 2019, which is the
date of initial application of the standard, applying the simplified transition approach and has not
restated comparative figures for the year prior to first adoption.
With the adoption of IFRS 16, the Bank recognised lease liabilities for the use of immovable
properties which were previously classified as "operating leases" under the principles of IAS 17
Leases. The lease liabilities were recognised on the face of the Statement of financial position and
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments as at 1 January 2019, discounted
he associated right-of-use
assets were also recognised on the face of the Statement of financial position as at that date and
were measured at an amount equivalent to this lease liability adjusted by the amount of prepaid lease
expenses.
As at 1 January 2019, some of the arrangements had a lease term which expired during 2019. None
of these arrangements were subject to extension options. Under the practical expedients allowed by
the standard, the Bank did not recognise a right-of-use asset and lease liability for such agreements
as of that date. Rental costs on these arrangements were recognised as an expense on a straightline basis over the remaining lease term.
1.1.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet
effective
There are no standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material
impact on the Bank in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.2 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in these financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary
d presentation currency.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit or loss.
1.3 Financial assets
1.3.1 Initial recognition
The Bank recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Accordingly, the Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when
recording financial asset transactions.
At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and
directly attributable to its acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss immediately. Immediately
after initial recognition, an Expected Credit Loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial assets
measured at amortised cost, which results in accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss when
an asset is newly originated.
1.3.2 Classification and measurement
On initial recognition the Bank classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
(a) amortised cost; and (b) fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). The classification varies
depending on whether the financial asset is a debt or an equity instrument.
Debt instruments
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on:
business model for managing the asset; and
The cash flow characteristic of the asset.
Based
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.3 Financial assets (continued)
1.3.2 Classification and measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they meet both the following conditions and are
not designated as at FVPL:
- the assets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
- their contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and inter
The carrying amount of these financial assets is adjusted by an expected credit loss allowance
recognised and measured as described in 1.3.3. Interest income from these financial assets is

Business model assessment. The business model reflects how the Bank manages the assets in
order to generate cash flows, whether the objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows
from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale
of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then
th
considered by the Bank in determining the business model for a group of assets include past
experience on how the cash flows for the assets were collected, h

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI).
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, the Bank assesses

In making this assessment, the Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent
with a basic lending arrangement, i.e. interest includes only the time value of money, credit risk, other
basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where
the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVPL. For the purposes of
on.
with the outstanding principal and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as profit margin.
Debt instruments are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition. The reclassification takes
place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such changes are expected to
be very infrequent and none occurred during the period.
Equity instruments

subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss. The Bank does not
elect, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.3 Financial assets (continued)
1.3.3 Impairment of amortised cost financial assets
The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECL on financial assets measured at amortised cost and
certain loan commitments.
ty since initial
recognition as summarised below:
A financial instrument that is not credithas its credit risk continuously monitored by the Bank. At initial recognition, an impairment
allowance (or provision) is required for ECLs resulting from default events that are possible within
instrument is moved
-impaired. An allowance (or
provision) is required for ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of
If the financial instrument is creditAssets in Stage 3 also carry a lifetime ECL allowance or provision.

ial assets cannot be transferred between categories.
Significant increase in credit risk

Bank of Malta, loans and advances to banks and financial institutions, funds advanced under
The other financial assets within
these categories of assets ar
This consideration is made in
the light of the fact that all obligors within these categories are considered by the Bank to have a
strong capacity to meet their obligations, and that adverse changes in economic conditions should
not reduce their ability to fulfil obligations.
The Bank assumes that the credit risk on these financial assets has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk, within the meaning
of paragraph 5.5.10 of IFRS 9, at the reporting date. If, on the other hand, these financial assets
suffer a significant increase in credit risk, for example following a downgrade to below investment
grade, the financial instrument will be re-classified as a Stage 2 exposure. This will impact the
measurement of the loss allowance, moving from a 12-month ECL assumption to a lifetime ECL
assumption.

ified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.3 Financial assets (continued)
1.3.3 Impairment of amortised cost financial assets (continued)
Definition of default and credit impaired assets
The Bank determines that a financial instrument is credit impaired and in Stage 3 by considering
relevant objective evidence, primarily when there are indications that the obligor is unlikely to pay. If
such unlikeliness to pay is not identified at an earlier stage, it is deemed to occur when an exposure
is 90 days past due.

Integral to the Ba
gross transaction amounts due from merchants that arise from chargebacks raised by cardholders,
that exceed funds withheld by the Bank from merchants to serve as collat
The Bank monitors the Net Expected Exposure, an internal metric to assess chargeback
performance and hence potential future risk of losses vis-à-vis collateral held. Receivables from
merchants arising as a result of chargeback transactions exceeding merchant reserves are
considered originated credit impaired. Lifetime ECL is recognised in profit or loss until such
exposures are derecognised.
Write-off
The Bank writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery
efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. In addition, the Bank has
a write-off policy for the designation and writing off irrecoverable amounts with respect to merchant
balances. The objective is to ensure timely and accurate write-off of negative merchant balances in
the period in which the balances are reasonably determined as uncollectable and after all avenues
to collect the amounts due have failed.
Measurement of ECL
-month (12M) or Lifetime basis
depending on whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or
whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted

The PDs estimates are estimates at date of calculating ECL allowances. In the absence of
sufficient internal historical default data, in order to estimate its PDs, the Bank makes
reference to external information published by Moody . More specifically, the Bank assigns
a PD to each of its exposures on the basis of the credit rating of the counterparty or issuer,
by reference to external
ratings of comparable financial assets. The Bank assigns a 1-year default rate to all
exposures deemed to have low credit risk, and for very short term financial assets, the 1
year default rate is scaled down to estimate a PD over a one or two day horizon, dependable
on the said exposure. This is consistent within the meaning of paragraph 5.5.10 of IFRS 9,
at the reporting date.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.3 Financial assets (continued)
1.3.3 Impairment of amortised cost financial assets (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)
Receivables from merchants and from group undertakings are calibrated on the same basis.
Receivables from merchants typically have a contractual life which is lower than 12 months,
usually a few days. In respect of receivables for group undertakings, the Bank credit risk
management actions are taken no less frequently than on an annual basis and therefore the
life in respect of receivables from group undertakings is also considered to be no longer than
12 months. A 100% probability of default is assign
In the case of chargebacks raised by cardholders, that exceed funds withheld by the Bank
from merchants to serve as collateral, expected credit losses of the same amount are held.
Su
EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over the
nce they are of a short-term nature, the 12M EAD and
Lifetime EAD are equivalent.

s.
Calibration is performed in the same manner as described for PD estimates above. In the
case of receivables from merchants arising as a result of chargeback transactions a 100%
LGD is assumed.
The ECL is calculated as a factor of the 12-month PD, LGD and EAD.
In this respect, the recognition of ECL should incorporate forward-looking information. However,
since the average duration of the instruments in scope are short-term, principally within one year
and the majority of which within a few days of the reporting period, no forward-looking elements are
included within the
expected credit loss model.
There were no changes to the model during the year.
Presentation of ECL in statement of financial position
For financial assets that are measured at amortised cost, the ECL allowance is presented against
the carrying amount of the assets on the balance sheet, thereby reducing the carrying amount.
1.3.4 Derecognition
The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership or the Bank has not retained control of the asset.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and
the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.3 Financial assets (continued)
1.3.4 Derecognition (continued)
The Bank is involved in transactions whereby it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows
from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and
nition if the Bank:
(i) has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets;
(ii) is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
(iii) has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.
1.4 Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments, including currency forwards, are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which a derivative contract is entered into, and are subsequently re-measured at their
fair value. Fair values for currency forwards are determined using forward exchange market rates at
the end of the reporting period. Discounting techniques, reflecting the fact that the respective
exchange or settlement will not occur until a future date, are used when the time value of money has
a significant effect on the fair valuation of these instruments. Changes in the fair value of any
derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit

1.5 Intangible assets
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring to use the specific software. Costs associated with maintaining computer software
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique
software products controlled by the Bank are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are met:
it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
management intends to complete the software product and use it;
there is an ability to use the software product;
it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic
benefits;
adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the
software product are available; and
the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably
measured.
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset
in a subsequent period.
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated
useful lives, which does not exceed five years.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.5 Intangible assets (continued)
At the end of each reporting period, intangible assets are reviewed for indicators of impairment or
changes in estimated future economic benefits (see Note 1.7). If such indicators exist, the intangible
assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable.
1.6 Property and equipment
All property and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
%
Leasehold improvements
20
Fixtures and fittings and office furniture
10 20
Computer and electronic equipment
17 20

each reporting
ts estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with carrying amount and
are recognised in profit or loss.
1.7 Leases
The Bank is the lessee
1.7.1 Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
At the inception of a contract, the Bank assesses if the contract is or contains a lease and hence
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
Lease liabilities arising from such contracts are measured at the present value of the remaining lease
ich is the rate that the Bank
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions.
The Bank measures the associated right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability at
the date at which the leased asset is made available for use.

27

CREDORAX BANK LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements 31 December 2019

1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.7 Leases (continued)
The Bank is the lessee
1.7.1 Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (continued)
Lease payments are allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant period rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.
The right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of
the lease term.
Reassessment is required when the terms and conditions of a contract are changed. Lease liabilities
are remeasured when:
-

There are changes in future lease payments arising from changes in an index or rate;
There are changes in
There are modification in the scope or the consideration of the lease that was not part of the
original term.

Lease liabilities are remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use assets, or an
adjustment in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero
and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability.
The Bank elects not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low value leases or
leases with a term shorter than 12 months. Lease payments relating to these leases are expensed
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
1.7.2 Policy applicable before 1 January 2019
Leases in terms of which the Bank does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as operating leases. Leased assets held under operating lease are not
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
1.8 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recoverable amount.
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). The impairment test can also be performed
on a single asset when the fair value less cost to sell or the value in use can be determined reliably.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.9 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand
and deposits held at call with banks.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and all liquid investments with an initial maturity of
three months or less when purchased. These amounts also include cash that the Bank holds related
to reserve funds collected from merchants that serve as collateral to minimise contingent liabilities
associated with any losses that may occur under the merchant agreement. The Bank records a
corresponding liability in settlement processing obligations in the statement of financial position.
Cash and cash equivalents also include settlement related cash balances. Settlement related cash
balances represent surplus funds that the Bank holds when the incoming amount from the card
networks precedes the funding obligation to the merchant.
1.10 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted from the
initial measurement of the equity instruments.
1.11 Financial liabilities
The Bank recognises a financial liability on its statement of financial position when it becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, being
the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. These liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The Bank derecognises a financial liability from
its statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is
discharged, is cancelled or expires.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise principally amounts owed to customers and
settlement processing obligations. Settlement processing obligations represent transactions that
have been processed but not yet funded together with funds withheld from merchants that serve as
collateral to minimise contingent liabilities associated with any losses that may occur under the

1.12 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Bank has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.13 Current and deferred tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However,
deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred assets and liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
The Bank forms part of a Fiscal Unit for Maltese income tax purposes in terms of the Maltese
Consolidated Group (Income Tax) Rules. Under the terms of these rules and a tax sharing and
funding agreement entered into by the Bank with its parent company and another wholly owned Malta
receivables from or payables to the parent company.
Deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits are also recognised as receivables
from the parent company to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available to
the Fiscal Unit against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Conversely, deferred tax in respect of other temporary differences do not represent receivables from
or payables to the parent.
1.14 Share based compensation

directors and selected employees in
exchange for their services. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of share options is recognised as an expense in profit or loss and as a corresponding increase
Upon vesting, Credorax Inc.
recharges to the Bank the grant-date fair value of the share options. The recharge is derecognised
recognised by the Bank as a liability to the parent.
The total amount to be expensed from grant date over the vesting period is determined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted at the grant date. Total compensation expense is recognised
from grant-date over the vesting period (the period during which an employee is required to provide
service in exchange for the benefit or the requisite service period) rateably through graded vesting.
Accordingly, the Bank amortises the compensation cost arising on the grant of share options over
the nominal vesting period for employees based on the graded vesting of the plan.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1.14 Share based compensation (continued)
At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to be vested. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
1.15 Provisions for legal proceeding and future chargebacks
Provisions are recognised when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle a current legal or constructive obligation which has arisen as a result of past events, and for
which a reliable estimate can be made.
1.16 Revenue recognition

merchants for services provided. This includes acquiring revenues, other fees charged on a per
transaction basis, income from foreign exchange services and interest.
Acquiring revenues relate to services provided to process transactions between the card-issuing
uccessfully
processed
acquiring platform and is recognised per transaction. Acquiring revenue also
includes the amount of interchange fees and scheme fees. The Bank is considered a principal for
the acquiring services it provides to the merchants, accordingly, such revenues are reported using
the gross presentation.
Income from foreign exchange services is generated on settling foreign currency transactions on
behalf of merchan
relation to the transaction
is fulfilled.
Given the nature of its transaction-based business,
revenues are recognised when the
services are provided at the point in time when the transaction takes place, since there are no further
performance obligations following the processing of transactions. The Bank does not provide any
services which are rendered over a period of time.
Costs of sales which primarily consist of fees charged by card schemes as well as interchange fees,
are matched to the revenue generated and are recognised when incurred.
Net fee and commission income is revenue after deducting scheme fees, interchange fees and sales
s Management and used as a performance indicator of
the financial effects of the activities in which the Bank engages.
The Bank does not have any contracts for the provision of services that result in the initial recognition
of contract assets or contract liabilities.
1.17 Dividend distribution
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2.

Financial risk management
2.1 Introduction
The Bank
risk, specifically foreign exchange risk, and liquidity risk. Accordingly, the directors provide principles
for overall risk management as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange
risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.
risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and upto-date information systems.
position of the Bank and is also responsible for the management of funding and liquidity risks. The
Bank
strategy and the implementation of risk principles, framework, policies and related limits.
2.2 Credit risk
2.2.1 Introduction
Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur losses as a result of a counterparty failing to fulfil its
contractual obligations to the Bank. Credit risk arises from
which are
inherently and predominantly subject to credit risk.
2.2.2 Maximum exposure to credit risk
The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk from balance sheet and off-balance
sheet financial instrument, before taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements.
For financial assets recognised on the statement of financial position, the maximum exposure to
credit risk equals their carrying amount. For loan commitments, it is generally the full amount of the
committed facilities.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.2 Credit risk
2.2.2 Maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)
345,373 (2018
allowances for expected credit losses of the same amount is held.

), for which

Credit risk mitigation practices are in place in respect of loans and advances to customers in the form
of reserves, merchant funds, funds pursuant to a funding delay or other retained funds which serve
as a security against such exposures. As at 31 December 2019
1,814,097 (2018:
879,131) in merchant funds in its possession.
2.2.3 Concentration of credit risk exposure
Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties or exposures have comparable
economic characteristics, or such counterparties are engaged in similar activities, or operate in the
same geographical areas or industry sectors, so that their collective ability to meet contractual
obligations is uniformly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. The Bank uses
a number of controls and measures to minimise undue concentration of exposures. These include
counterparty limits, approvals and review controls.
Within its daily operations the Bank transacts with banks and other financial institutions. The Bank
primarily places short-term funds with pre-approved banks and financial institutions subject to limits
in place and subject to the respective
Actual exposures are monitored against these limits on a daily basis and in real time. The credit
status of the pre-authorised banks is also monitored on an ongoing basis.
unsecured, interest free and have no fixed date or repayment. The Bank takes cognisance of the
related party relationship and the credit arrangements with group undertakings and management
does not expect any losses from non-performance or default which has not been provided for.
Funds receivable from merchants represent receivables in respect of prefunded amounts to
merchants. These represent instances, where through special arrangements the Bank agrees to
transfer the money before receiving it from the card schemes. In the event that the amounts are not
received from the card schemes, the Bank has the right to claim the money back from the merchants.
merchants is deemed by the
directors to be contained.
The Bank also bears the risk of incurring financial losses due to the inability to recover gross
transaction amounts due from merchants that arise from chargebacks raised by a cardholder (i.e. a
claim from a cardholder where the payment has been made but the merchant has failed to deliver
m
(before any chargebacks occur or when chargebacks are fully secured by collateral), the Bank
recognises a net liability position to merchants. However, credit risk arises when the value of
chargeback transactions exceed the value of collateral held. As at 31 December 2019, receivables
amounting
45,373 (2018:
) from 226 merchants (2018: 130 merchants) related to
chargeback transactions in excess of collateral held.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.2 Credit risk (continued)
2.2.4 Allowances for expected credit losses
The following disclosure presents the gross carrying/nominal amount of financial instruments
measured at amortised cost to which the impairment requirements in IFRS 9 are applied and the
associated allowance for ECL.

The financial assets recorded in each stage have the following characteristics:
Stage 1: unimpaired and without significant increase in credit risk on which a 12-month
allowance for ECL is recognised;
POCI: purchased or originated as credit impaired on which a lifetime ECL is recognised.
As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018,
, except for
receivables from merchants where chargebacks exceeded collateral are classified
. The
Bank recognises 12-month allowances for expected credit losses in respect of these financial assets.
As at 31 December 2019, gross carrying amounts of financial assets in Stage 1 amounted to
96,253,788 (2018:
4,535,755), with allowances for
107,241 (2018:
).
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.2 Credit risk (continued)
2.2.4 Allowances for expected credit losses (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Bank has no past due or impaired financial assets within these
asset categories, except for merchants whose chargeback transactions exceed the value of collateral
held by the Bank, all of which can be classified immediately as credit-impaired as the amount will
automatically fall
9, receivables amounting to
345,373 (2018 1,463,919) from 226 merchants (2018: 130 merchants) related to chargeback
transactions in excess of collateral held.
Further to the above Expected Credit Loss allowance, the Bank provides for any potential future
losses from chargebacks beyond receivables recognised on-balance sheet that falls under the scope

The Bank did not recognise any expected credit losses in respect of commitments, representing
undrawn credit facilities, since these had no material financial impact.
The following table explains the changes in the loss allowance between the beginning and the end
of the annual period due to these factors:
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.2 Credit risk (continued)
2.2.4 Allowances for expected credit losses (continued)

changes in volume movements (i.e. exposure at default) in those financial assets subject to IFRS 9
ECL requirements. Movements in ECL resulting from changes in risk parameters, such as changes
the table above.
During the current and preceeding financial years, the Bank did not experience any transfer of
financial assets between stages. As a result, there is no re-measurement of ECL arising from transfer
of stages.

2.3 Market risk
The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from
open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and
specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as
interest rates, credit spreads and foreign exchange rates. In the normal course of business, the
arket risk arises principally from its exposure to different currencies, primarily resulting from
its acquiring business. Following the receipt of preference shares in Visa Inc. in exchange for the
risk.
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2.3 Market risk (continued)
(a) Interest rate risk
3 (2018:
notice amounting to

customers of
funds advanced under collateral arrangements amounting to

-bearing financial assets
exposure to interest rate risk is not
deemed to be significant given that these assets are either re-priced to current market rates
frequently or are short-term in nature or are otherwise immaterial. T
customers are contracted on the basis of fixed interest rates, and thus are not subject to cashflow
interest rate risk. Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis disclosing how profit or loss and equity would
have been affected by changes in interest rates that were reasonably possible at the end of the
reporting period is not deemed necessary.
(b) Currency risk
The Bank manages its currency risk on an ongoing basis by ensuring that foreign currency liabilities
are utilised to fund assets denominated in the same foreign currency thereby matching asset and
liability positions as much as is practicable. When it is not possible to match the asset and liability
currency positions, the Bank hedges its open foreign exchange exposures by entering into forward
foreign exchange contracts with terms which match those of the hedged items.

December 2019. Included in the table are the
categorised by currency.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.3 Market risk (continued)
(b) Currency risk (continued)

Under the scenario that the euro appreciates against the USD from 1.1234 to 1.3234 (2018: from
1.1450 to 1.3450) and against the GBP from 0.8521 to 1.000 (2018: from 0.8945 to 1.000) the impact
recognised in profit or loss would amount to a pre107,293
other hand, the euro depreciates against the USD to 1.0000 (2018: 1.0000) and against the GBP to
0.7521 (2018: 0.7945) the impact recognised in profit or loss would amount to a loss before tax of
71,232
.
(c) Equity price risk
The Bank is exposed to market price risk arising from the uncertainty about the future market prices
of the investment held by the Bank in the preference shares of Visa Inc. that are classified in the
statement of financial position as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The preference
shares are convertible into ordinary shares of Visa Inc., they have no maturity and represent a

In view of the absence of quoted market prices for such instruments, the fair value of the preference
shares has been determined on the basis of an internal valuation model, which is dependent on a
.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.4 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its
financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn.
The Bank is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its
financial liabilities, which comprise principally amounts owed to customers, settlement processing
obligations and other liabilities (refer to Notes 18, 19 and 22).
obligations are generally repayable within one month from the end of the reporting period, other than
which are repayable within 180 days from the end of the reporting period.
The Bank manages this risk by monitoring future cash flows together with changes in available
liquidity on a regular basis. Except for prefunded merchants, Credorax only settles settlement
processing obligations after the cash is collected from the card schemes. The Bank manages in a
very active manner the relationship between the aggregate of funds receivable from card schemes
and funds attributable to merchants, and its settlement processing obligations. These positions are
considered not to impose liquidity risk as they are interrelated from a liquidity perspective. Senior
management is updated on a regular basis on the cash flow position of the Bank.
Through the increase in deposit taking activities, the Bank can be exposed to an increase in liquidity
risk due to a possible significant deposit flight. However, the Bank considers this risk to be partially
mitigated in a natural manner given that the majority of the amounts owed to customers pertain to
term deposits with tenors of two to three years.
As part of its liquidity risk management framework, management monitors the

Due to the nature of the business and the composition of the balance sheet, the bank assesses its
liquidity risk currently to be very limited. As part of the liquidity management, the Bank will only
forward funds to merchants, once funds are subsequently received from card schemes, except for
instances where merchants have prefunded agreements. Therefore, other than prefunded
transactions, the Bank is not exposed to liquidity risk.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.4 Liquidity risk (continued)
The following tables analyse financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period by
remaining period to maturity.

Assets which are not immediately accessible and readily available consist of 99,184 the Bank held
with the Central Bank of Malta pledged in favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme.

undiscounted cash outflows by maturity grouping was deemed by the directors to be unnecessary.
Similarly, fi
5,255,893 are also not readily available for sale, since
they are illiquid. Additionally, Funds advanced under collateral arrangements amounting to
13,847,694 are considered to be encumbered.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2018

Total

Within 3
months

Between 3
Between
months and one year and
one year
3 years

No maturity
date

Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta
Funds receivable from card schemes

43,294,531
2,686,708

42,995,712
2,686,708

-

-

Loans and advances to banks and financial institutions
Loans and advnaces to customers
Financial investments
Funds advanced under collateral arrangements
Other assets

43,272,815
1,086,798
2,672,053
6,452,100
7,315,168

35,861,879
182,846
5,964,403

7,410,936
560,041
1,350,765

343,911
129,514
-

2,542,539
6,452,100
-

106,780,173

87,691,548

9,321,742

473,425

9,293,458

Financial liabilities
Amounts owed to customers
Settlement processing obligations
Other liabilities

5,193,145
64,626,158
3,162,824

5,193,145
52,700,171
3,162,824

6,947,599
-

-

4,978,388
-

Total financial liabilities

72,982,127

61,056,140

6,947,599

-

4,978,388

Maturity gap

26,635,408

2,374,143

473,425

Cumulative gap

26,635,408

29,009,551

29,482,976

Total financial assets

298,819
-

Assets which are not immediately accessible and readily available consist of term placements with
other banks representing amounts pledged against a letter of credit issued in favour of card schemes
that serve as collateral against the credit risk of the Bank. In addition, the Bank holds
the Central Bank of Malta pledged in favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme.

undiscounted cash outflows by maturity grouping was deemed by the directors to be unnecessary.
Similarly, financial investments amounting to
542,539 are also not readily available for sale, since
they are illiquid. Additionally, Funds advanced under collateral arrangements amounting to
6,452,100 are considered to be encumbered.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.5 Capital risk management

statement of financial position, are:
to comply with the capital requirements set by the Malta Financial Services Authority
(MFSA);
so that it can continue to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored on a regular basis
management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee
and the European Union Directives and Regulations, as implemented by the MFSA for supervisory
purposes.
The Bank is required to maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets ( Capital
requirements ratio ) above a prescribed minimum level of 12% and a CET1 capital ratio of 10%, in
line with the Bank's licence conditions. The Bank has processes to ensure that the minimum
regulatory requirements in relation to own funds are met at all times.
The minimum capital requirements are calculated for credit, market and operational risks. During the
year, the Bank utilised the Standardised Approach for credit risk, the Basic Indicator Approach for
operational risk and the Basic Method for foreign exchange risk in order to calculate the Pillar 1
minimum capital requirements. For credit risk, under the standardised approach, risk weights are
determined according to credit ratings provided by internationally recognised credit agencies such
as Fitch or their equivalents and by using the applicable regulatory risk weights for unrated
exposures. The Basic Indicator Approach requires that the Bank allocates capital for operational risk
by taking 15% of the average gross income, while the Basic Method requires the Bank to allocate
8% of its overall net foreign exchange position to calculate the capital requirement for foreign
exchange risk.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.5 Capital risk management (continued)

applicable requirements.

2.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflec
Fair values are consequently determined according to the following hierarchy:
Level 1 quoted market price: financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in
active markets.
Level 2 valuation technique using observable inputs: financial instruments with quoted prices for
similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive
markets and financial instruments valued using models where all significant inputs are observable.
Level 3 valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: financial instruments valued
using models where one or more significant inputs are unobservable.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value
The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market. The fair values of
financial instruments that are quoted in active markets are based on bid prices for assets held and
offer prices for liabilities issued. Where a financial instrument has a quoted price in an active market,
the fair value of the total holding of the financial instrument is calculated as the product of the number
of units and quoted price.
The judgement as to whether a market is active may include, but is not restricted to, the consideration
of factors such as the magnitude and frequency of trading activity, the availability of prices and the
size of bid/offer spreads. The bid/offer spread represents the difference in prices at which a market
participant would be willing to buy compared with the price at which they would be willing to sell.
In the event that the market for a financial instrument is not active, a valuation technique is used.
Valuation techniques may incorporate assumptions about factors that other market participants
would use in their valuations, including:
the likelihood and expected timing of future cash flows on the instrument. Judgement may be
required to assess
contractual terms. Future cash flows may be sensitive to changes in market rates;
selecting an appropriate discount rate for the instrument. Judgement is required to assess what
a market participant would regard as the appropriate spread of the rate for an instrument over
the appropriate risk-free rate;
judgement to determine what model to use to calculate fair value in areas where the choice of
valuation model is particularly subjective, for example, when valuing complex derivative
products.

Inc. preference shares
and any open derivative positions.
Visa Inc. preference shares are
classified as Level 3 instruments, while the derivatives are categorised as level 2.
No transfers of financial instruments between different levels of the fair value hierarchy have occurred
during the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

primarily the use of discounted cash flow techniques. The fair values referred to are determined by
reference to market prices or rates (forward foreign exchange rates) quoted at the end of the
reporting period. The valuation techniques used are supported by observable market prices or rates
since these variables include only data from observable markets. Since the Bank entered into the
open derivative on 31 December 2019, the fair value of such a derivative is nil.
As part of a transaction explained in Note 8, during 2016 the Bank received preference shares
convertible into ordinary shares of Visa Inc. in exchange for its membership interest in Visa Europe
Limited. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, financial assets measured at FVPL
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
These preference shares are classified as Level 3 as the valuation is dependent upon a number of
further discount for lack of marketability, and a conversion ratio, which as explained in Note 8, can
there were no identical transactions with regularly available market prices in respect of such
preference shares.
The table below provides a reconciliation of the fair value measurements in such level 3 instruments.

In order to determine the fair value of the Visa Inc. preference shares as at 31 December 2019 and
2018, the Bank considered a range of potential outcomes, including the likely value of the potential
level of losses from Visa Europe interchange litigation under different scenarios, based on probability
weightings.
It is reasonably possible that if Visa Europe interchange litigation progresses within the next financial
year and more information becomes available about the likely value of the potential losses, changes
in assumptions determining the fair value could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the Visa Inc. preference shares.
Changes to unobservable assumptions will change the overall fair value of the preference shares. In
this respect, if the discount for the lack of marketability was assumed to shift by 500 basis points, it
would result in the following effects on the fair value of the instruments:

With respect to the outcome of litigation proceedings, as further notifications, claims and settlements
evolve, the Bank will re-evaluate the likely litigation cost as part of the fair valuation process.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)
2.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Certain financial assets and liabilities are carried at amortised cost. The following table sets out the
carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities:

The fair values of these financial assets and liabilities are not disclosed given that the carrying
amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value because these are either re-priced to current
market rates frequently or are short-term in nature, or are otherwise immaterial.
3.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other
factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
In the opinion of the directors, other than for the fair
Visa Inc.,
measured at FVPL, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of preparing these
financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would warrant their
description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1. Information about assumptions and
estimation uncertainties relating to fair valuation of the financial instruments referred to is disclosed
in Note 2.
The directors believe that there are no other areas involving a higher degree of judgement that have
a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment and that may have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements; and there are no key assumptions and key sources
of estim
complex judgments.
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4.

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, no mandatory reserve deposit was required in
terms of Article 32 of the Central Bank of Malta Act, Cap. 204 of the Laws of Malta. Included in this
299,184 (2018:
) pledged in favour of the Depositors
Compensation Scheme.
The balances with the Central Bank of Malta are held to fulfil any Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
requirement. A negative deposit facility interest rate of 0.50% (2018
average reserve holdings in excess of the minimum reserve requirements.

5.

Funds receivable from merchants

The funds receivable from merchants as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 represent balances where
the Bank agrees to transfer the amounts due to the merchants before receipt by the card schemes.
In the event that the amounts are not received from the card schemes, the Bank has the right to claim
the funds back from the merchants.

6.

Loans and advances to banks and financial institutions

Loans and advances to banks with a contractual maturity of three months or less are included in
cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows. In 2018, term placements
with other banks represent amounts pledged against a letter of credit issued in favour of card
schemes that serve as collateral against the credit risk of the Bank.
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7.

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers consist of a credit facility with a fixed maturity date. The advance
is subject to a fixed interest rate at 4.15%.
Any reserves, as well as any rolling reserve, fixed reserve, merchant funds, funds pursuant to a
funding delay or other retained funds, serve as a security against the loans and advances to
customers. As at 31 December 2019,
1,814,097 (2018 879,131) in merchant
funds in its possession.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, there were no instances of non-performing
exposures.

8.

Financial investments

Financial assets measured at FVPL as at 31 December 2019 comprise preference shares of Visa
Inc., with a face value of
3 million, which were received by the Bank in exchange for its
membership interest in Visa Europe Limited, as part of a transaction in which Visa Europe Limited
was acquired by Visa Inc.
The preference shares are convertible into ordinary shares of Visa Inc., they have no maturity and

The purpose of the preference shares is to provide Visa Inc. with protection against all litigation risk
associated with interchange fees linked to the activity of Visa Europe Limited. In this respect, ordinary
shares of Visa Inc. will be issued to the holders of preference shares on a periodic assessment of
the ongoing risk of liability to Visa. Following the determination of any liability, Visa makes a
Accordingly, the conversion adjustment feature transfers specific litigation risk of Visa Inc. to the
holders of the preference shares. As a result, the holders of the preference shares, including the
Bank, are exposed to litigation risk. The conversion rate adjustment is dependent upon the uncertain
outcome of litigation, which is still deemed to be in an embryonic stage. Hence, the value of these
shares depends on the level and success of any future litigation.
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8.

Financial investments (continued)
Due to the pace at which developments in respect of litigation claims relating to interchange fees and
point of sales rules against both VISA and Mastercard have occurred, it is not possible to assess
future litigation cost, with a degree of certainty. The estimation of these litigation costs has been
factored into an internal valuation model for the preference shares, based on the professional
these financial statements remains the best available forecast. Accordingly, the reported amounts
are sensitive to the assumptions, estimates and model used for the purposes of valuing the
preference shares. In this respect, a sensitivity analysis has been performed as disclosed within Note
2.6
As further notifications, claims and settlements evolve, the Bank will re-evaluate the likely litigation
cost as part of the fair valuation process.
Financial investments at amortised cost as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 comprise of an
investment in debt security with fixed income and maturity.

9.

Funds advanced under collateral arrangements

Funds advanced under collateral arrangements represent amounts pledged in favour of card
schemes that serve as collateral against the credit risk of the Bank.
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10.

Property and equipment
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11.

Right-of-use assets
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank was party to non-cancellable lease agreements of
properties in respect of which the future minimum lease payments extend over a number of years,
including options to renew the lease after the expiry of the original term. Until the 2018 financial
year, leases of property were classified as operating leases. From 1 January 2019, leases are
recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Bank.
The Bank has also some other leases with contract terms shorter than one year and leases of lowvalue items, for which the Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets.

12.

Intangible assets

During 2019, the Bank has acquired software from a related entity amounting to 2,132,811.
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13.

Other assets

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed date for
repayment.
Credorax Inc. and all of its subsidiaries are subject to a common assignment agreement in respect
of the settlement of debts arising from services between entities in the normal course of business.
The agreement allows for the assignment of debt amongst parties and entitles the assignees to setoff any assigned debt against receivables from the debtor counterparty in the normal course of
business. It is intended to allow group undertakings to settle debts on a net basis and is deemed
legally enforceable. Accordingly, amounts owed by/to group undertakings are reported in the
statement of financial position on a net basis.

14.

Share capital

15.

Share based compensation reserve
The share based compensation reserve comprises the fair value of services provided by directors
and selected employees of Credorax Bank Limited in exchange for the grant of share options (see
Note 16
and

Upon vesting of the share options granted, Credorax Inc. recharges to the Bank the grant-date fair
value of the share options. Accordingly, the recharge is recognised by the Bank as a liability to the
parent. During 2019, vested share options recognised as a liability to the parent amounted to
506,395 (2018 87,302).
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15.

Share based compensation reserve (continued)
Unsettled balances are recognised in the statement of financial position as payables within amounts
in Note 13.

16.

Share based employee compensation
During 2012, Credorax I
directors and selected employees of Group companies, including those of Credorax Bank Limited.
No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. Options may generally be exercised to the
extent that they have vested. The options vest according to the relevant schedule generally within
four years after the grant date and expire within ten years after the date of grant. The exercise price
is determined by the Board of Directors of Credorax Inc. Outstanding options comprise options
existing as at the end of the reporting period not cancelled or exercised by their respective
beneficiaries (employees and directors). Options are cancelled when the entity that is granting the
options cancels the grant of the equity instrument through a decision taken by the Board of
Directors. Options are forfeited when the beneficiary leaves the Bank. Options that vested as of the
termination date may be exercised but only within such period of time ending on the earlier of ninety
(90) days following the termination date or the expiration date.
The weighted average grant-date fair value of the share options granted to the
officers and
employees during the year amounted to USD7.56 (2018: USD7.56). The entity applied a binomial
option pricing model to determine the grant date fair value of share options granted up to 31
December 2014 and a Black-Scholes pricing model for the grant date fair value of share options
granted from 2015 onwards. Model inputs include the share price of Credorax Inc. at grant date,
exercise price, expected volatility of 65.73% (2018: 50.12%) which is based on historical volatility of
the share price, dividend yield of nil% (2018: nil%), contractual life of ten years, and a risk free interest
rate between 1.59% and 2.49% (2018: between 2.54% and 2.94%). A summary of the share option
activity for the year ended 31 December is as follows:
2019

2018

Number
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise
price
USD

Outstanding as at 1 January
Granted
Forfeited

758,233
31,500
(85,750)

6.88
7.56
5.78

941,983
145,500
(329,250)

9.59
7.56
8.70

Balance at 31 December

703,983

7.21

758,233

6.88

Number
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise
price
USD

During the financial year under review, 107,300 (2018: 85,325) options at a weighted exercise price
of USD6.44 (2018: USD9.07) had vested. As at 31 December 2019, 558,858 (2018: 520,983) share
options were exercisable at a weighted average price of USD7.05 (2018: USD6.88).
No options were exercised during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018.
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16.

Share based employee compensation (continued)
The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding as at 31 December 2019 and
2018, analysed by exercise price were as follows:

Option price
USD2.60
USD3.80
USD5.00
USD6.40
USD7.56
USD9.00
USD11.01

2019
Options
Weighted
granted
average
remaining
contractual
life

2018
Options
Weighted
granted
Average
remaining
contractual
Life

95,866
79,250
21,467
50,900
219,000
89,500
148,000

95,866
84,750
21,467
65,900
227,750
89,500
173,000

2.01
2.97
1.25
3.35
8.36
4.23
5.95

3.01
4.02
2.25
4.35
9.15
5.23
7.01

The total expense recognised in the
financial statements throughout the period in relation to
share based employee compensation amounted
115,863 (2018 113,172) and is included within
28 and 38).

17.

Derivative financial instruments
The Bank enters into derivatives primarily to manage its foreign exchange risk. The derivative
financial instrument at 31 December 2019 related to the forward purchase of USD 27 million (2018:
USD 32 million) against the euro at contractual rate of 1.1209 (2018: 1.1481). The foreign exchange
forward contract matures within one month from the end of the reporting period. Since the Bank
entered into the derivative on 31 December 2019, the fair value of such a derivative approximates to
nil (2018: nil).

18.

Amounts owed to customers

Amounts owed to customers are classified as liabilities at amortised cost.
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19.

Settlement processing obligations

Amounts owed to merchants relate to funds already received from card schemes in the process of
settlement to merchants.

20.

Deferred taxation
Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a
principal tax rate of 5% (2018: 35%). The change was
form part of a fiscal unit under the Consolidated Group (Income Tax) Rules as described in Note
1.12.
The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

Whereas tax losses and notional deductions have no expiry date and may be carried forward
indefinitely, capital allowances expire upon disposal of the related asset.
The impact of all movements in the table above are recognised in profit or loss.
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20.

Deferred taxation (continued)
During 2019, the Bank has agreed to form part of a Fiscal Unit for Maltese income tax purposes in
Inc., the parent company and another wholly owned Malta resident subsidiary of Credorax Inc. These
Rules allow a group of companies to elect to be treated as one single taxpayer and to compute their
chargeable income or losses on a consolidated basis.
In terms of the agreement, Credorax Inc., the parent company, will be
Tax Act relative to entities forming part of the fiscal unit.
On adoption of the Consolidated Group tax rules, the Maltese tax liabilities otherwise due on the
taxable profits of the Bank can be set off against the 6/7ths tax refund otherwise due thereon to
Credorax Inc, resulting in the principal taxpayer to immediately account for the tax due at the 5%
effective tax rate. This would save the Bank the time lapse previously required between the payment
of the standard corporate income tax rate of 35% at the level of the Bank, and the subsequent receipt
of a shareholder refund at the level of Credorax Inc., following a distribution of dividends upon which
such tax would have been charged and paid. The Consolidated Group tax rules provide that tax
computations at the level of separate individual group entities must still be undertaken and the totality
of the resulting tax compared with the tax liability resulting at the principle taxpayer level and if it is
found that the latter is less than 95% of the former, than an anti abuse provision will be applicable.
In view however of the fact that the principle taxpayer is non Maltese tax resident and that it is not
owned directly or indirectly by persons who are resident and domiciled in Malta, such anti abuse
provision should not in the circumstances result in any additional tax considerations for the bank, the
principal taxpayer or the Fiscal Unit.
As part of this process, the Bank entered into a tax sharing and funding agreement with Credorax
Inc. and the other entity that forms part of the Fiscal Unit, that provides for the allocation of income
taxes to the fiscal unit members.
The allocation of tax within the Fiscal Unit is calculated as if each member entity was an individual
entity for tax purposes, with taxes allocated by reference to the chargeable income/losses of each
Furthermore, while each entity within the Fiscal Unit is jointly and severally liable for the payment of
er, has the legal obligation to remit these amounts.
In addition, under the terms of this agreement, the parent, as principal taxpayer, will assume the
obligation to remit taxes to the Maltese Inland Revenue, and the member entities will compensate
Credorax Inc. for their share of tax payable assumed by the parent or conversely be compensated
for their share of any tax receivable.

ment with the parent of their share of the Fiscal Unit's tax burden.
Accordingly, Credorax Inc., as principal taxpayer, assumes the credit risk of the other member
entities defaulting on settlement.
As a result, the Bank recognises current tax liabilities, deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and tax credits arising from this allocation process as a liability towards or asset receivable
from the parent.
Upon adoption of this agreement, the Bank has thus derecognised its current tax liabilities amounting
96,185 and recognised a liability of the same amount towards Credorax Inc. This amount was
subsequently offset against the receivables due by Credorax Inc. in accordance with the terms of the
common assignment agreement entered into between Credorax Inc. and all of its subsidiaries as
described in Note 13.
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20.

Deferred taxation (continued)
Since the tax consolidation regime allows for a full integration of the tax position of its members,
during 2019, each entity within the Fiscal Unit including the Bank, has applied an equivalent effective
tax rate of 5% for the computation of current and deferred tax. As a result, during 2019, the Bank has
918 to profit or loss, to reflect the reduction in the
effective tax rate from 35% to 5%.

21.

Lease liabilities
Following the adoption of IFRS 16, the Bank has presented lease liabilities separately from other
liabilities in the statement of financial position. The lease liabilities were initially measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate as
at 1 January 2019.
Lease liabilities are analysed by maturity as follows:

22.

Other liabilities

23.

Net interest income
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24.

Fee and commission income

25.

Fee and commission expense

26.

Net trading income

27.

Net income from financial instruments measured at FVPL
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28.

Employee compensation and benefits

Average number of persons employed by the Bank during the year:

29.

General and administration expenses

The total cash payments for leases, including short-term and low-value leases, in 2019 was
231,288. The depreciation expense on Right of Use assets and the interest expense attributable
to lease liabilities are disclosed within Notes 11 and 23 respectively.
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29.

General and administration expenses (continued)
Fees charged by the auditors for services rendered during the financial year relate to the following:

30.

Changes in expected credit losses and other impairment allowances

31.

Tax expense
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31.

Tax expense (continued)
The tax recognised in profit or loss differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
basic tax rate as follows:

32.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with
contractual maturity of not more than three months, which form part of an
cash management.

33.

Significant non-cash transactions
During 2019, the Bank paid a dividend of seven million e
distribution.
4,000,000).

from prior year profits and
current year profits available for
Similarly, during 2018, the Bank paid an interim dividend of four million euro

Furthermore, during 2019, the Bank acqu

.

Simultaneously, during 2019,
finance the operations of various
repaid.
The obligations referred to above were offset against the receivables due by the ultimate parent,
Credorax Inc. in accordance with the terms of the common assignment agreement entered into
between Credorax Inc. and all of its subsidiaries (refer to Note 13).
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33.

Significant non-cash transactions (continued)
a balance of tax payable by the Bank
has been assumed by the parent
company, Credorax Inc. under the tax funding agreement. This balance was also offset against the
receivables due by the ultimate parent, Credorax Inc. in accordance with the terms of the common
assignment agreement referred to above.
As disclosed in Note 16, during 2019, the parent contributed
amounts of
115,863 (2018 113,172) in respect of share options granted to employees of the Bank.

34.

Commitments

35.

Capital commitments
Commitments relating to the acquisition of new software licenses and operating expenditure are as
follows:

36.

Contingencies
As at 31 December 2019, the Bank had no (2018: one) legal proceeding outstanding against it arising
in its normal course of business.

37.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Bank
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Bank

Bank

The following dividends were recognised as distributions during the year ended 31 December.
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37.

Dividend distribution (continued)
The directors propose the following dividends.

38.

Related party transactions
Related parties of the Bank include the ultimate parent, all entities controlled by the ultimate parent
personnel and entities which are controlled or jointly controlled by key management personnel or
their close family members.
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of Credorax Bank Limited, being the Directors.
The following main transactions were carried out with related parties:

Further to the above, during 2019, the Bank acquired software from a related entity amounting to
.
During 2019 the Bank also advanced a

6
10,738,647) were repaid.

Balances with related parties as at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in Note 13 to the
financial statements.
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39.

Events subsequent to the financial reporting date
Since 31 December 2019, the outbreak of COVID-19 has severely impacted many local economies
around the world, with measures taken to contain the spread of the virus, including travel bans,
quarantines, social distancing, and closure of non-essential businesses for indefinite periods of time,
triggering significant disruptions to businesses worldwide and leading to a global economic
slowdown.
The likely future impact on the Bank of the COVID-19 outbreak has been assessed as part of its
adoption of the going concern basis, and as of the date that these financial statements were
authorised for issue, the Bank has not observed any material impact on its business due to COVID19, both operationally and also financially.
Operationally, the Bank managed the impact of COVID-19 with minimal disruption on every level,
which success is directly attributable to its robust technological infrastructure based on cloud
technology. The Bank has smoothly switched to teleworking mobilizing over 100 employees for their
safety, and is staying in close contact with its merchant customers and service providers in order to
mitigate any adverse financial or operational impact, and continues to monitor the situation as it
unfolds.
From a trading point of view, the Bank has reported exceptional processing performance in first
quarter 2020 trading, with overall traffic being 9% higher when compared to the last quarter of 2019,
and March 2020 processing volumes growing by 26% when compared to the prior month. This
positive impact
e-commerce transactions, which are set to be less affected by the effects of the COVID-19 breakout,
-diversified portfolio of merchants
operating in various industries and geographies. In fact, despite the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak
presenting some uncertainties on the Bank in meeting its projected processing volumes, the Bank is
seeing good levels of processing volumes in other verticals in its portfolio which, up until now, are
more than compensating for the decline in processing suffered by the travel industry. The Bank has
also noted that this trend of increased processing volume is continuing to persist even during the
month of April 2020 up to the date that these financial statements were authorised for issue.
During the first quarter of 2020, the Bank has
its preference shares in Visa Inc, as these shares have declined in value as a result of the COVID19 outbreak that
-border
business.
The Bank has determined that the events experienced subsequent to the financial reporting date are
non-adjusting subsequent events. Accordingly, the financial position and performance as of and for
the year ended 31 December 2019 have not been adjusted to reflect their impact.
.
The extent of the impact of COVIDnal and financial performance as well
as its results for future periods will depend on certain developments, including the duration and
spread of the outbreak, the impact on the
, all
of which are uncertain and cannot be reliably estimated. Therefore, as at 29 April 2020, the date that
these financial statements were authorised for issue, it is difficult to accurately predict the overall
outcome and impact of the COVIDfinancial performance
for full year 2020 as well as its results for future periods.
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39.

Events subsequent to the financial reporting date (continued)
Nonetheless, the Bank has stress tested its financial projections and capital adequacy, and simulated
multiple forward looking adverse scenarios that the Bank might potentially experience due to COVID19 pandemic crisis, including a decrease in processing volumes, the default of merchants operating
in severely hit industries, a decrease in market value of debt securities and other investments, and
a deterioration in credit quality of the projected loan portfolio. Although it is currently considered
unlikely that these adverse scenarios will occur simultaneously, the combined effect of these stress
tests shows that the Bank will continue satisfying its minimum total capital adequacy and liquidity
ratios in 2020 and beyond.
Therefore, even though the current environment is unprecedented and it is too early to form a clear
view on the
business continuity plans, a well-diversified portfolio of merchants providing sufficient cushioning and
compensating for severely hit sectors, and the immaterial financial impact to date, the Bank is
confident in its foreseeable future and its ability to weather the current crisis and to continue to
provide best service to its merchants, whilst also benefiting from future opportunities that this
pandemic will leave in the future. Accordingly, the directors have not identified a material uncertainty
As such, the
Bank continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its Financial Statements.

40.

Statutory information
Credorax Bank Limited is a limited liability company and is incorporated in Malta.
The immediate and ultimate parent company of Credorax Bank Limited is Credorax Inc., a company
registered in the British Virgin Islands, with its registered address at Commerce House, Wickhams
Cay 1, Po Box 3140, Road Town, Tortola.
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1.

Risk management

1.1

Overview of risk disclosures

in accordance with the Pillar 3 quantitative and qualitative disclosure requirements as governed by
nd Audited Financial Statements of Credit
Institutions authorised under the Banking Act, 1994, issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority
(Capital Requirements Directive) and EU Regulation No. 575/2013 (Capital Requirements
Regulation) of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 and are presented on a
solo basis at the level of the Bank. These ARDs are published on an annual basis as part of the
structure and adequacy as well as its risk management policies and practices.
In line with the banking regulatory requirements, these ARDs are not subject to an external audit,
except to the extent that any disclosures are equivalent to those made in the Financial Statements
which are prepared in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting
hrough internal verification procedures, the Bank ensures
that these disclosures are presented fairly.
1.2

Risk management framework

payment processing services to merchants within the EU and two other EEC States. Moreover,
Credorax Bank Limited operates as a credit institution under the Banking Act, Cap 371 of the Laws
of Malta, whereby it is licensed to accept deposits and also provide lending facilities.
The Bank is committed to creating lasting value for shareholders by focusing on expanding its growing
customer base, and by employing specialised staff that work with merchants to find solutions for
lated as its net
profit after tax expressed as a percentage of average total assets, for the reporting period ended 31
December 2019 is 12.19% (2018: 8.62%). The
expected to improve and will continue to improve in the future.

due diligence measures. The Bank is especially conscious of the risks involved in the acquiring and
banking business, not only as a result of its exposure to the arising credit risk involved but also to the
operational risk intrinsic within the business. Therefore, it strives to minimise its exposure to
operational risk by taking on merchants only when it knows how to manage the resulting risk. This
culture is fostered across the entire Bank.
The Bank takes on risk with the aim of generating profits and therefore considers risk management
a core competency that helps produce higher returns for its various stakeholders. The Bank has
tailored its risk management objectives and policies to manage the specific risks arising from payment
acquiring while considering international guidelines, such as the Basel III Accord, corresponding
Directives and Regulations of the European Union, including technical standards, as well as
contemporary international banking practices. In addition, the Bank is also in compliance with the
requirements of the PMLFTR, PSD2, PCI Data Security Standards and the PCI Payment Application

stakeholders that the risk management systems adopted by the Bank are appropriate in relation to
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1.

Risk management (continued)

1.2

Risk management framework (continued)
The main categories of risk to which the Bank is exposed to are:
-

Credit risk: Credit risk stems from the loss of equity and profit as a result of the possible nonprompt repayment or noncounterparties. This relates to legitimate merchant transactions that generate chargebacks,
which the merchant is unable to fund in the normal course of business. In these circumstances,
Credorax Bank Limited is obliged to honour the chargebacks by accepting the chargebacks,
which may result in significant losses.

-

Market risk: Risk of losses arising from unfavourable changes in the level and volatility of interest
foreign exchange exposure.

-

Liquidity risk: The risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with
its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn.

-

Operational risk: Risk of damage resulting from the lack of skilful management or good
governance within the Bank and the inadequacy of proper control, which might involve internal
operations, personnel, system or external occurrences that in turn affect the income and capital
funds of financial institutions. The Bank has adopted an operational risk management framework
and procedures, which provide for the identification, assessment, management, monitoring and

The Bank aims to manage these risks by applying methods that meet best practice and considers it
important to have a clear distribution of responsibilities for risk management across the Bank. In this
respect, the Bank adopts the three lines of defence model in risk management.
The first line of defence is constituted by
management, represented mainly through the Executive Committee members and the functions
not form part of the Board of Directors) is composed of the VP Human Resources; the Portfolio
Manager; the Chief Operations Officer; the Chief Underwriting Officer; the VP Finance and
Regulatory Reporting and the VP Finance Operations. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for the overall day-to-day management of the Bank, in accordance with such policies
and directions as the Board may determine from time to time.
The Underwriting Committee deals with the risks involved when on-boarding prospective merchants
is adhering to its several merchant acquiring policies, with particular attention to the Credit Risk policy
at all times. The Credit risk policy addresses the underwriting process where the Bank assesses the
whilst considering the potential risk of fraud, high chargeback rates and business failure. The
underwriting process, governed also by the Customer Acceptance policy and the Acceptable Industry
policy, provides an opportunity to reject a merchant that is determined to have an unacceptable
history of chargeback volumes, has a weak financial position, is not operating a valid business model
or falls under the prohibited list of merchants. Furthermore, where a merchant poses certain risks,
the said merchant is escalated to the Underwriting Committee where it is subjected to a thorough
analysis from a legal, operational, fraud and risk perspective. The Underwriting Committee is
composed of the Chief Underwriting Officer, the Head of Risk Operations, the Head of Policy and
Scheme Compliance, the Head of Compliance & MLRO and the Managing Director. The Chief
Underwriting Officer ensures that underwriting procedures and checks are in line with regulatory
requirements and the Bank's risk appetite, while at the same time is responsible for the financial and
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1.

Risk management (continued)

1.2

Risk management framework (continued)
The second line is represented by the Enterprise Risk Manager and the Head of Compliance and
MLRO, who reports to the Risk Oversight Committee. The Risk Oversight Committee is responsible

conform
convened four times during the period under review.
rprise Risk Manager ensures a comprehensive approach towards the identification
identification and
established risk appetite triggers, and to assess how these can be mitigated and escalated where
appropriate.
The Internal Auditor form the third line of defence who reports to the Audit Committee. However, the
management framework through the development and monitoring of compliance wit
management policies. The aim of the risk management framework is to support the Bank in achieving
its goals and objectives and ensure that the risks are commensurate with the rewards.
The Board establishes the risk appetite of the Bank which is the maximum risk that the Bank is willing
to assume to meet business targets. The risk appetite is set in a process based on a thorough
analysis of its current risk profile. The Bank identifies a number of key risk components and for each,

risk-taking and day-to-day decisions.

and independence of the external auditor, the performance of the Internal Auditor, the quality of the
Committee receives and reviews regularly reports made by the internal and the external auditors,
and monitors any identified control issues through to a satisfactory conclusion.

controls in individual areas of operation, and performs ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls
and procedures. The function reports its findings to the Audit Committee.
2.

Capital risk management

2.1

Own funds
of
assessing capital adequacy from a regulatory perspective. The total capital ratio is a measure of the
long-term financial strength of a bank, usually expressed as a ratio of its own funds or capital to the
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.1

Own funds (continued)
The Bank has processes to ensure that the minimum regulatory requirements in relation to own funds
are met at all times, through the assessment of its capital resources and requirements. During the
financial period ended 31 December 2019, the Bank has complied with all the externally imposed
capital requirements to which it was subject.

the capital base is equivalent to
which includes ordinary share
capital, retained earnings and other regulatory adjustments relating to items that are included in
equity but treated differently for capital adequacy purposes. The Bank does not maintain a Reserve
for General Banking Risks since i
-

Regulatory transitional arrangements (including paragraph 4 of the CRR article 473a) with regards
to IFRS 9: Financial instruments were introduced by the European Parliament and the Council on 27
December 2017. These permit banks to add back to their own funds a proportion of the impact of
IFRS 9 during the first five years of implementation. The proportion that banks may add back starts
at 95% in 2018 and reduces to 25% by 2022. Given the immaterial impact of the IFRS9 provision for
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Bank has opted not to apply these regulatory transitional
arrangements.
(a) Share capital
9 is analysed as follows:
2019

2018

Authorised
200,000,000

200,000,000

23,000,000

23,000,000

Issued and fully paid up

(b) Retained earnings
The retained earnings represent earnings not paid out as dividends. Retained earnings form part of
During
2019, the Bank paid a dividend of seven milli
other interim dividend of
shareholder, Credorax Inc, as approved at an extraordinary general meeting held on 27 February
2019 and 28 June 2019 respectively. During 2018, by virtue of a resolution dated 1 August 2018 the

5,000,000 to be paid to shareholders. This
dividend is subject to approval by shareholders and has not been included as a liability in these
financial statements.
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.1

Own funds (continued)
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.2

Credit risk

2.2.1 Introduction to credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur losses as a result of a counterparty failing to fulfil its
contractual obligations to the Bank. Credit
in processing and settlement of payment transactions.
Credit risk constitutes the
view of its acquiring activities and therefore the Bank
is fully aware of the connotations of such risk and places great importance on its effective
management. The portfolio of merchants and their performance is monitored on an ongoing basis
and the relevant management bodies, including the Board of Directors and the Risk Oversight
Committee, are kept informed on an ongoing basis of developments of irregular merchant trends,
high chargebacks and other relevant information.
2.2.2 Credit risk management
All new merchants are reviewed by the risk function to ensure that the credit risk they represent is
within the Risk Appetite agreed by the Board of Directors. The on-boarding of merchants is based on
tive mitigant to credit risk arising from
business age, partner reliability, as well as the industry sector in which the merchant operates are
considered.
As part of the risk assessment, Credit Risk Analysts, approve, reject or amend the processing terms,
namely fixed and rolling reserve, funding delay, frequency of settlement, and any other merchant
processing terms suggested by the sales team on behalf of the partner or merchant. Any matters not
considered to fall within the parameters of normal business practices are escalated to the Head of
Risk Operations who will in turn decide whether further escalation is required to the Chief
Underwriting Officer or the Underwriting Committee.
Subsequent to on-boarding, in order to manage its credit risk exposures arising from its payment
processing operations, the Bank compiles and updates due diligence reports in respect of its
merchants and IPSPs, and establishes appropriate transaction volumes and value limits. The Bank

authority and has segregation of duties in place so as to maintain impartiality and independence
during the underwriting and on-boarding process and to control ongoing merchant compliance.
If in any given month the chargeback ratio or NEE is in excess of these thresholds, a report explaining
the cause of the breach and the action plan to lower the exposure to an acceptable level is provided
by the Chief Underwriting Officer to the Risk Oversight Committee.
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.2

Credit risk (continued)

2.2.2 Credit risk management (continued)
is
as follows:

The exposures set out in the preceding table are based on the sum of on-balance sheet exposures
and off-balance sheet exposures, adjusted for the credit conversion factors stipulated within Article
166(10) of the CRR. Due to the specificities of the risks inherent within the payment acquiring
how
Credit risk mitigation practices in respect to loans and advances to customers include reserves,
merchant funds, funds pursuant to a funding delay or other retained funds which serve as a security
against such exposures. As at 31 December 2019, the Bank retained 1,814,097 (2018:
)
in merchant funds in its possession.

Credit risk exposures analysed by residual maturity
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.2

Credit risk (continued)

2.2.2 Credit risk management (continued)
Credit risk exposures analysed by geographical region

is analysed in the following table. For the purposes of this table, the Bank has allocated exposures
classes to regions based on the country of domicile of the counterparties.

2.2.3

may arise as a result of chargebacks for which merchants would not be in a position to honour.
nt procedures for each merchant in order to
determine the exposure that each merchant represents to Credorax Bank Limited, together with a
formal assessment on its business introducers, also referred to as partners. As highlighted previously,
the Bank focuses on the compilation, together with ongoing and event-driven updating of due
diligence analysis taking cognisance of collateral measurement and of effective transaction
monitoring to ensure that the merchant is not being used as a vehicle for money laundering or terrorist
financing.

portfolio, at an individual merchant level or potentially on an industry or country basis. In this regard,
the directors are cognisant that significant reliance on specific merchants, particular industries or
sectors can be detrimental to the Bank, and therefore have in place appropriate concentration limits
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.2

Credit risk (continued)

2.2.3

(continued)
The following table shows 2019 processing volumes analysed by industry:

The following table shows the geographical analysis of 2019 processing volumes:

Credorax provides a smart acquiring solution to merchants across hundreds of industries; however,
some of these industries require the fulfilment of certain conditions for successful onboarding.
Furthermore, some industries fall ou
on the legality of the product, risk from a card scheme perspective, and legal complexities.

rates and delivery timeframe for future services committed to by merchants. When the amount of
chargebacks exceed the amount of the collateral, i.e. the reserves and funding delay, management
considers this to be an impairment trigger. At this point, the Bank evaluates whether the exposure
should be impaired. Impaired merchant exposures are therefore those exposures arising from
chargebacks in excess of collateral and for which the Bank has determined that it is probable that it
will be unable to recover. As at 31 December 2019
345,373 (2018:
1,463,919) from 226 merchants (2018: 130 merchants) related to chargebacks transactions in
excess of collateral held.
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.2

Credit risk (continued)

2.2.3

(continued)
Credorax Bank Limited places strong emphasis on the value and quality of the collateral, depending
on the amount of the exposure, the risk profile of the merchant, and the level of credit risk involved.

6,162,017 (
).

3,568,279 (
2.3

), while the

Interest rate risk
(2018:
), balances with other banks and financial institutions repayable on call and at short
notice amounting to 11,127,600 (2018: 8,956,457), loans and advances to customers of
2,039,267 (2018:
), funds advanced under collateral arrangements amounting to
are
deemed to be significant given that these assets are either re-priced to current market rates frequently
or are short-term in nature or are otherwise immaterial.
contracted on the basis of fixed interest rates, and thus are not subject to cashflow interest rate risk.
Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis disclosing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected
by changes in interest rates that were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period is not
deemed necessary.

2.4

Currency risk
The Bank manages its currency risk on an ongoing basis by ensuring that foreign currency liabilities
are utilised to fund assets denominated in the same foreign currency thereby matching asset and
liability positions as much as is practicable. When it is not possible to match the asset and liability
currency positions, the Bank hedges its open foreign exchange exposures by entering into forward
foreign exchange contracts with terms which match those of the hedged items.

December.
by currency.

Based on the above positions, the regulatory risk capital charge in respect of currency risk is
303,033 (2018 362,473).
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.5

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements
responsible for the development and implementation of policies and procedures to ensure that
operational risks are managed effectively. The Bank mitigates the possibility of impact risk events
mitigation achieved through back-up information security infrastructures, back-up disaster recovery
sites and insurance covers over particular business risks. Such systems enable the Bank to operate
on an ongoing basis and limit losses in the event of severe business disruption.
a framework of policies and procedures

oversight function. Regular reporting of operational risk events to the Board of Directors is carried
when required. The Bank currently uses the Basic Indicator Approach to assess the operational risk
capital requirements and accordingly allocates 15% of average gross income for a three-year period
in accordance with regulatory requirements. The operational risk regulatory capital requirement as at
December 2019 amounted to 4,215,123 (2018: 2,885,830).
2.6

Capital requirements
Minimum capital requirements are calculated for credit, market and operational risks. The Bank
utilises the Standardised Approach for credit risk, the Basic Indicator Approach for operational risk
and the Basic Method for foreign exchange risk in order to calculate the Pillar 1 minimum capital
requirements. For credit risk, under the Standardised Approach risk weights are determined
according to credit ratings provided by internationally recognised credit agencies such as
Fitch Ratings or their equivalents and by using the applicable regulatory risk weights for unrated
exposures. The capital charge for foreign exchange risk using the Basic Method is calculated at 8%
of the higher of the sum of all the net short positions and the sum of all the net long positions in each
foreign currency. The Basic Indicator Approach requires that the Bank allocates capital for
operational risk by taking 15% of the average gross income. The total capital ratio is calculated in
accordance with the requirements of the CRR.
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.6

Capital requirements (continued)

As required by the CRR, the minimum level of the Capital Requirements Ratio stands at 8%. The
Bank fully implemented the CRD IV capital requirements with effect from January 2019. In this

restrictions on capital distributions apply if the local grou
CRD IV combined buffer.
The Bank is required to maintain a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, made up of CET1 capital, on
the risk weighted exposures of the Bank as from 1 January 2019. This buffer has been phased in
over the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018, with full transitional application effective
as from 1 January 2019.
CRD IV contemplates a countercyclical buffer in line with Basel III, in the form of an institution-specific
countercyclical buffer and the application of increased requirements to address macro-prudential or
systemic risk. This is set in the range of 0-2.5% of relevant credit exposure RWAs, whereby the rate
where the relevant exposures are located.
institutions in Malta, and to interbank exposures, the Bank is subject to a very low countercyclical
buffer requirement of 0.17% arising from UK exposures as at 31 December 2019.
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.6

Capital requirements (continued)
The O-SII buffer is also institution specific and may be set at a maximum of 2% of a systemically
relevance to the financial system in Malta, it is unlikely that the Bank will be required to maintain an
O-SII buffer.

a whole, or one or more sub-sectors, to be deployed as necessary by each EU member state with a
and 5%. There are currently no indications that the Bank will need to maintain a systemic risk buffer.
2.7

Exposures to equities
The Bank is exposed to market price risk arising from the uncertainty about the future market prices
of the investment held by the Bank in the preference shares of Visa Inc. that are classified in the
statement of financial position as financial assets at FVPL. The preference shares are convertible
net assets. Furthermore, in view of the absence of quoted market prices for such instruments, the
fair value of the preference shares has been determined on the basis of an internal valuation model,
which have a quoted price.
The impact of a change in the fair value of such instruments resulting from a change in equity prices,
is included in these financial statements as part of the sensitivity analyses that have been performed
on the key assumptions used in the valuation of such instruments, within Note 2.6
value of
financial assets and liabilities

2.8

Use of External Credit Assessment Institutions
-weighted
exposure amounts for central banks, multilateral development banks, institutions and corporates for
which a credit assessment is available. The credit quality of such exposures is determined by
maps these ratings to the credit quality steps prescribed in the CRR as required by
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2.

Capital risk management (continued)

2.8

Use of External Credit Assessment Institutions (continued)
The following table represents the exposure values for which an ECAI is used:

2.9

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)

confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on
es the need to maintain a balance
between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position.
the regulatory capital
allocation, as the regulatory requirements do not reflect the differing risk profile of the Bank. In this
respect, the Bank allocates the majority of its capital against the risks resulting from chargebacks
which merchants would not be able to fund in the ordinary course of business.
The Bank considers the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) embedded in Pillar
II as a tool that ensures a proper measurement of material risks and capital and allows better capital
management and an improvement in risk management. Therefore, it facilitates a better alignment
between material risks and regulatory capital in order to have better capital deployment and
improvements in the risk management and mitigation techniques adopted by the Bank.

ensure that the capital level is sufficient to withstand unlikely, but possible, stress scenarios.
The ICAAP as required by the MFSA Banking Rule 12, shall be submitted to the MFSA in April 2020.
3.

Asset encumbrance
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank is required by card schemes to pledge an amount of
funds in their favour to serve as collateral against the credit risk of the Bank.
encumbered assets as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 13,847,694 (median value during 2019
6,709,667). However, during 2019 the Bank had term placements with other banks
representing amounts pledged against a letter of credit issued in favour of card schemes that served
as collateral against the credit risk of the Bank.
encumbered as at the end of the reporting period, except for 299,174 with the Central Bank of Malta
which is pledged in favoured of the Depositor Compensation Scheme. Furthermore, as at 31
December 2018, the Bank did not have any outstanding liabilities associated with encumbered assets.
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3.

Asset encumbrance (continued)
Accordingly, as at 31 December 2019
to support potential future funding and collateral needs, amounted to
(median value
during 2019 amounted to 21,354,427
12,730,120 (median value
during 2019 amounted to 6,365,060) were assessed to be readily realisable.
59,155,878 (median value during 2019 amounted to
48,463,843) have been excluded from the balance of unencumbered assets above. This balance
represents the surplus cash, which in the ordinary course of business arises since the incoming
amounts from the card schemes precede when the funding to merchants falls due. This significantly

4.

Remuneration policy

employees. Accordingly, the Bank offers remuneration packages, composed of fixed and variable
pay and selected benefits, aimed at attracting, retaining and motivating people with the requisite
knowledge and experience. Remuneration packages reflect the extent of decision-making and risk
management responsibilities assigned to respective individuals.
Taking into consideration the size of the Bank, the non-complex operations and the straightforward
remuneration structure, the Board of Directors does not deem necessary the establishment of a
Remuneration Committee for the Bank, although this will be reviewed on an annual basis.
Consequently, the Board of Directors performs the functions of the Remuneration Committee for the
employees as well as that applicabl
the basis of quantitative and qualitative criteria set out in Commission Delegated Regulation
604/2014.
members of the Executive Committee,
which includes all the respective function Heads and the Managing Director, the Head of Treasury
and Head of Risk Operations as identified staff members heading material business units, and staff
who are responsible for the internal control functions, including the Head of Compliance & MLRO,
Enterprise Risk Manager and Internal Auditor.
On the other hand, the remuneration of the Board members, which are currently all non-executive
directors except for one executive director, is determined by the Remuneration Committee of
Credorax Inc. (the parent company).

all
emuneration (with the exception of sales people)
comprising the base salary and fixed pay allowances. Fixed remuneration is established
influenced by the level of education, the degree of seniority and organisational responsibility, the
level of expertise and skills required, the constraints and job experience and the relevant
business sector and region. It may be increased following performance reviews,
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4.

Remuneration policy (continued)
-based variable pay which does
not however exceed 100% of fixed remuneration. The variable element of their compensation is
dependent on the achievement of pre-set targets in terms of the processing volumes and
profitability (which includes any chargebacks and losses) of their merchant portfolio. Sales
people introduce prospective merchants and partners to the Bank but have no approval authority
during the onboarding stage. Once successfully onboarded, the merchants and partners
aforementioned will be monitored and rewarded when targets are met and exceeded. In this
way, variable compensation paid in cash is intended to reward the accomplishment of targets
where a staff member benefits from variable remuneration, the characteristics of their variable
remuneration, as well as the process and criteria that will be used to assess the impact of their
activities on the risk profile of the institution and their variable remuneration should be
performance should be properly documented and should be transparent to the staff concerned.
the fixed and variable remuneration of the MRTs do not exceed a total remuneration of EUR
500,000 or more, nor is it within the 0.3% of the number of staff who have been awarded the
highest total remuneration.
no performance-related compensation is awarded to directors or selected employees, with the
exception of the Sales Operations team members which are entitled to cash based variable
remuneration and share based compensation awarded to senior management and selected
employees.
-executive directors are not eligible to receive performance
incentives. The variable component of the remuneration is mainly rewarded through a sharebased
Credorax Inc., whereby share options are granted to directors and selected employees in
exchange for their services at the discretion of the Board. No consideration is payable on the
grant of an option and is awarded to employees on the basis of both financial and non-financial
performance. Financial performance is assessed by reference to key risk adjusted financial
metrics, while non-financial performance is assessed by reference to factors including
leadership, team management, team work, creativity, motivation and cooperation.
Options may generally be exercised to the extent that they have vested. The options are subject
to deferral and vest according to the relevant schedule generally within four years after the grant
date and expire within ten years after the date of grant. The exercise price is determined by the
Board of Directors of Credorax Inc. based on the fair value of shares at grant date. In this
manner, variable compensation through share-based compensation does not exceed 100% of
fixed remuneration and is structured in a manner that incentivises staff to pursue the goals and
interests of the Bank, enabling them to share in its success while promoting sound risk
management.

The Board of Directors considers that the packages offered to senior management ensure that the
Bank attracts and retains management staff that is capable of fulfilling its duties and obligations.
contracts of employment after a period of probation, rather than on fixed term contracts.
Accordingly, the applicable notice periods, after probation, are those provided for in the relevant
legislation.
The table on the following page
during financial year 2019.
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Remuneration policy (continued)
Remuneration

fixed and variable amounts

Total Non-

9
79,000 (2018 81,500), of which none (2018 2,500) was variable. All the variable
remuneration awarded during the year was deferred. Other directors who are employed within the
Group are not paid any fees for their directorship.
5.

Leverage
The leverage ratio is a regulatory and supervisory tool intended to provide a transparent and nonrisk-based measurement of an institution to supplement the risk-based capital requirements.
The leverage ratio is calculated in terms of capital as a proportion of total exposures. Capital is
defined as Tier 1 capital in line with Article 25 of the CRR, whilst total exposure relates to the total on
and off-balance sheet exposures less the deductions applied to Tier 1 capital.
During 2016, the European Commission published a Proposal to amend Regulation 575/2013 (CRR),
which included the introduction of a 3% leverage ratio as a binding Pillar I requirement. Although this
Proposal is still in draft and further discussions are expected, the Bank abides by the minimum 3%
Tier 1 leverage ratio, based on fully transitioned Basel III standards.
The following page shows
stipulated by implementing regulation EU 2016/200.
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Leverage (continued)

The following table provides a reconciliation of accounting assets and leverage ratio exposures:

The table in the following page shows the different on balance sheet exposures in relation to the
calculation of the leverage ratio.
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Leverage (continued)

The risk of excessive leverage is ma
monitored using a leverage ratio metric within our Risk Appetite Statement. The Risk Appetite
Statement articulates the type and level of risk that the Bank is willing to accept in its business
activities in order to achieve its strategic business objectives. The Risk Appetite Statement is
monitored via the risk dashboard, which includes comparisons of actual performance against the risk
appetite and tolerance thresholds assigned to each metric, to ensure that any excessive risk is
highlighted, assessed and mitigated appropriately. The risk dashboard is monitored monthly and
presented to the Risk Oversight Committee on a quarterly basis.
The Bank manages the risk of excessive leverage by ensuring a sound relationship between the size
of the Tier 1 capital and the sum of the on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures. It should
however be noted that the leverage ratio of the Bank typically exceeds significantly the minimum

6.

Other directorships

2014, a credit institution is considered significant if any one of the following conditions is met:
-

unless the total value of its assets is below
exceeds 20% of national GDP;
it is one of the three most significant credit institutions established in a Member State;
it is a recipient of direct assistance from the European Stability Mechanism; or
-border assets/liabilities
in more than one other participating Member State to its total assets/liabilities is above 20%.

Credorax Bank Limited does not meet any of the above criteria, and therefore is currently not
considered significant by banking supervisors. Accordingly, the Bank is exempt from the
requirements of article 91 of CRD IV.
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Other directorships (continued)

the table below:
Number of other
directorships held

Director

Position

Binyamin Nachman
Frederick Ellul
Nathan Shaked
Igal Rotem
David Blumberg
Tonio Fenech
Anthony Depasquale
Aviram Shemer
Joshua Floum

Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director

2
2
3
14
4
9
1 (resigned 23 April 2020)

For the purpose of the above disclosure, the number of other directorships held within the same group
are counted as a single directorship.
7.

Recruitment and diversity policy
The Bank is aware that a vigorous and professional approach to recruitment and selection of
prospective members of the Board of Directors and management or other employees within the Bank
helps it to attract and appoint those individuals having the necessary skills and attributes compatible

required by Maltese legislation and in line with policy.
The Bank undertakes a rigorous selection process for all prospective members of the Board and
management together with other employees, bearing in mind the key activities, tasks and skills
required for the vacant position. As part of the selection process, multiple interviews are conducted,
those of other individuals.
Bearing its objectives in mind, the Bank endeavours to appoint directors with diverse skills and
expertise that allow the Board to create value for shareholders by ensuring that the specific risks
pursued by the Bank in the acquiring and payment processing services, as well as risks that are
intrinsic to banking bu
approach. The Bank will continue to promote this diversity by recruiting the ideal individual for the
lity, sexual orientation,
identity or preference.
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5 Year Summary
Statements of financial position
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5 Year Summary
Statements of comprehensive income
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5 Year Summary
Statements of cash flows
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